THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

DEC 19 2025

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal From Cherokee County
Court of Common Pleas

Perry Gravely, Circuit Court Judge
R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

Docket Case No.: 2017-CP- 11-00735

Appellate Case No. 2022-001582

Sharon Brown, Appellant,

vs.

Cherokee County School District One, Respondent.

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

SHARON BROWN
216 Ardmore Road
Spartanburg, S.C. 29306
(864)431-4123
sharon.brown21@yahoo.com
APPELLANT

COUNSELS OF RECORD:

Andrea E. White (SC Bar ID #11891)
J. Alexander Sherard (SC Bar ID #103276)
P.O. Box 7036
Columbia, S.C. 29202
Telephone: (803)814-0993
Facsimile: (803)814-1183

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did Judge Perry Gravely err when he did not render a directed verdict in Brown's favor for breach of contract and breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act when it was discovered that Carl Carpenter, director of personnel for Cherokee County School District, and Cherokee County School District Attorneys had an additional charge before the school board unbeknownst to Brown?

2. Was it fair for Judge Gravely to allow the school district to discuss an additional charge at trial for reasons for Brown's termination when in fact Brown was first notified about the charge at trial before a jury?

3. Did Judge Perry Gravely err when he failed to stop the breach of contract and breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act actions at the trial before him once he saw the procedural violations committed in Brown's teacher termination process?

4. Does South Carolina Employment and Dismissal Act allow a school district to terminate a teacher without giving a teacher the opportunity to defend him or herself against all of the charges before a school board?

5. Did Judge Perry Gravely err when he failed to declare a mistrial when respondent's counsel informed the jury that Brown had been unsuccessful in this school termination case before the circuit court?

6. Was Brown due process rights violated at trial when she was denied a meaningful trial because Judge Perry Gravely failed to order a new trial due to the respondent's counsel telling the jury about a previous court ruling concerning the case at trial?

7. Did Judge Perry Gravely err when he granted summary judgment to the respondent on appellant's gross negligence claim on the ground that you have to be a student, patient, prisoner, inmate, or client of a government entity to sue for gross negligence?

8. Did Judge R. Keith Kelly err in ruling in his September 10, 2021 order the following (1.) that Cherokee County School District did not receive the charges of discrimination filed by Brown on August 5, 2015 and October 9, 2015, (2.) Brown requested her mother be in a July 30, 2015 meeting, and (3) "When Moore questioned Brown about Carpenter's directive that Brown should not speak with other employees during the investigation's pendency, Brown stated she "did not remember" Carpenter's directive.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter is before the Court on the appeal of Sharon Brown (hereinafter "Brown") from the decisions of the Honorable Perry Gravely and the Honorable R. Keith Kelly. R. p. 42; R. pp. 1-11; R. pp. 12-13. Brown filed this appeal on November 4, 2022. It is to be noted that by separate action brought in 2015 under the South Carolina Teacher Employment and Dismissal Act (TEDA) S.C. Code Ann § 59-25-410 et. Seq., Brown requested and was granted an evidentiary hearing before the District's Board of Trustees regarding then-Superintendent Quincie Moore's recommendation that Brown be terminated. R. pp. 389-398. The Board upheld Moore's recommendation and the Circuit Court and the Court of Appeals affirmed the Board's decision. Our S.C. Supreme Ct. and U.S. Supreme Court did not grant Brown Certiorari.

Thereafter, Brown instituted causes of actions against Cherokee County School District One in the Court of Common Pleas in Gaffney, S.C. Brown filed a Summons and Complaint on October 4, 2017. R. pp. 44-50. Subsequently, Brown filed an amended complaint on December 7, 2017. R. pp. 51-64.

Respondent district essentially denied the allegations, asserted res judicata, and filed a motion for summary judgment. R. pp. 76-234; R. pp. 331-334. On September 10, 2021 Judge Kelly issued an order on respondent's motion for summary judgment. R. pp. 1-11. Thereafter, on October 24-26, 2022 Judge Perry Gravely presided over the trial of three causes of actions that survived summary judgment before Judge R. Keith Kelly. R. p. 335. The causes of action before Judge Perry were breach of contract, breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act, and gross negligence. R. p. 336.

During the jury trial of the case at hand, Judge Gravely overturned Judge Kelly's decision denying summary judgment on the gross negligence cause of action. R. pp. 8-9; R. pp. 369-371.

On September 16, 2021 Brown filed a Motion to Amend Order and Judgment and Motion for Reconsideration concerning Judge Kelly's September 10, 2021 order. R. pp. 260 -285; R. pp. 286-330. Judge Kelly denied the motion. R. pp. 12-14.

The Appellant, Sharon Brown, worked from August 1, 1999 to October 7, 2015 with the subject employer (Cherokee County School District), most recently as a second-grade teacher. The Appellant was terminated effective October 7, 2015 for alleged conduct violations. At the time of this action, Ms. Brown was in her seventeenth year of teaching experience with Cherokee County School District (CCSD). Ms. Brown has never had any special conditions or stipulations on any of her teaching contracts with Cherokee County School District in her seventeen years of employment. R. p. 400; R. p. 401.

Ms. Brown has a bachelor's of science degree in criminal justice, a master's degree in elementary education, a master's degree in reading, and an educational specialist degree in school administration. She is certified as an elementary teacher, reading teacher, reading consultant, elementary principal, and an elementary supervisor. Ms. Brown was employed by Respondent to teach a second-grade class during the 2014-2015 school term at Luther Vaughn Elementary School. On June 1, 2015, two days before the last day of school, Ms. Brown met with Dr. Carl Carpenter (Dr. Carpenter) the then-Director of Human Resources for Cherokee County School District (CCSD) and the then-principal of Luther Vaughn Elementary, Ms. Nanette Ruppe (Ms. Ruppe) concerning an allegation of child abuse.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

1. When viewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, an appellate court applies the same standard as the trial court under Rule 56, SCRPC. *Wogan v. Kunze*, 379 S.C. 581, 585, 666 S.E.2d 901, 903 (2008). The circuit court should grant summary judgment "if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine

issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Rule 56 (c) SCRPC, *Russell v. Wachovia Bank, N.A.* 353 S.C. 208, 217, 578 S.E.2d 329, 334 (2003).

2. S.C. Code Section 1-23-380 provides that "the court may reverse or modify the decision if substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions are:

- (a.) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b.) in excess of statutory authority of the agency;
- (c.) made upon unlawful procedure
- (d.) affected by error or law;
- (e.) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record, or
- (f.) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

ARGUMENT I

1. Did Judge Perry Gravelly err when he did not render a directed verdict in Brown's favor for breach of contract and breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act when it was discovered that Carl Carpenter, director of personnel for Cherokee County School District, and Cherokee County School District Attorneys had an additional charge before the school board unbeknownst to Brown?

Standard of Review: S.C. Code Section 1-23-380 provides that "the court may reverse or modify the decision if substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions are:

- (a.) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b.) in excess of statutory authority of the agency;
- (c.) made upon unlawful procedure
- (d.) affected by error or law;
- (e.) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record, or
- (f.) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

Our courts have applied the APA standards to certain local administrative decisions. In *Lee County School District Board of Trustees v. MLD Charter School Academy Planning Committee*, a case

involving a local school board's decision regarding a charter school application, our Supreme Court established that the standard of review was the APA standard of review. 371 S.C. 561, 565, 641 S.E. 2d 24, 26 (2007). In *Adamson v. Richland County School District One* this Court stated: "S.C. Code Ann § 1-23-380(6) (Supp 1997) [an APA provision] gives the circuit court authority to reverse an agency decision made upon unlawful procedure or in excess of statutory authority." 332 S.C. 121, 128, 503 S.E. 2d 752 755-56 (Ct. App. 1998) (emphasis added).

Brown was terminated by the Cherokee County School District Board of Trustees (Board) on October 15, 2015. Brown never received notice from then-Superintendent Dr. Quincie Moore (Moore), that she was charging Brown with a performance charge. R. p. 386-388; 389-398. Brown found out during her jury trial before Judge Gravely in October of 2022. R. p. 355; R. p. 357, lines 22-25 and R. pp. 358-359. Brown contends that her due process rights and procedural due process were violated by CCSD. CCSD did not follow our Teacher Employment and Dismissal Act.

Dr. Carl Carpenter testified that Brown was fired because she was an unsatisfactory teacher and she did not render acceptable service. R. p. 355; R. p. 357, lines 22-25 and R. pp. 358-359. Cherokee County District Attorneys and Dr. Carl Carpenter were aware of these charges, but failed to tell Brown about them.

Superintendent Moore never gave Brown notice of the performance charge that Dr. Carl Carpenter and District Attorneys claimed at the jury trial held before Judge Gravely.

Pursuant to Section 59-25-440 of TEDA, the Board must afford the adversely affected teacher a hearing based on the notice of dismissal that was recommended by the Superintendent.

Brown was due a meaningful and fair review of the evidence and all the charges prior to the Board making a final determination. *See Brown's prior case* *Brown vs. James* (2010) S.C. Ct. of Appeals, Case No. 4674

The Superintendent and Board's failure to follow procedure as prescribed in TEDA, should tender Brown's teacher termination null and void. The wording of the TEDA is unambiguous regarding procedures, and the record fails to show that CCSD and its Board complied with its requirements.

It is to be noted that there was nothing for a jury to decide once it was discovered that CCSD and the Board undermined our TEDA. A directed verdict should have been entered in Brown's favor. Brown did all that she was required to do under TEDA. Consequently, she should have been reinstated to her teaching position with back pay and benefits. Alternatively, she should have received front pay and other benefits once it was discovered by Judge Gravely that CCSD did not follow our dismissal procedures in TEDA.

ARGUMENT II

2. Was it fair for Judge Gravely to allow the school district to discuss an additional charge at trial for reasons for Brown's termination when in fact Brown was first notified about the charge at trial before the jury?

Standard of Review: S.C. Code Section 1-23-380 provides that "the court may reverse or modify the decision if substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions are:

- (a.) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b.) in excess of statutory authority of the agency;
- (c.) made upon unlawful procedure
- (d.) affected by error or law;
- (e.) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record, or
- (f.) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

Brown contends that it was unfair for Judge Gravely to allow CCSD to discuss an additional charge at trial. R. p. 355; R. p. 357, lines 22-25 and R. pp. 358-359. Again, Brown was terminated by the

Cherokee County school District Board of Trustees (Board) on October 15, 2015.. Brown never received notice from then- Superintendent Dr. Quincie Moore (Moore), that she was charging Brown with a performance charge. R. pp. 386-388; R. pp. 389-398. Brown found out during her jury trial before Judge Gravely in October of 2022. R. p. 355; R. p. 357, lines 22-25 and R. pp. 358-359.. Brown contends that her due process rights and procedural due process were violated by CCSD. CCSD did not follow our Teacher Employment and Dismissal Act.

Dr. Carl Carpenter testified that Brown was fired because she was an unsatisfactory teacher and she did not render acceptable service. Cherokee County District Attorneys and Dr. Carl Carpenter were aware of these charges, but failed to tell Brown about them.

Superintendent Moore never gave Brown notice of the performance charge that Dr. Carl Carpenter and District Attorneys claimed at the jury trial held before Judge Gravely.

Pursuant to Section 59-25-440 of TEDA, the Board must afford the adversely affected teacher a hearing based on the notice of dismissal that was recommended by the Superintendent.

Brown was due a meaningful and fair review of the evidence and all the charges prior to the Board making a final determination. *See Brown's prior case* Brown vs. James (2010) S.C. Ct. of Appeals, Case No. 4674

The Superintendent and Board's failure to follow procedure as prescribed in TEDA, should tender Brown's teacher termination null and void. The wording or the TEDA is unambiguous regarding procedures, and the record fails to show that CCSD and its Board complied with its requirements.

It is to be noted that there was nothing for a jury to decide once it was discovered that CCSD and the Board undermined our TEDA. A directed verdict should have been entered in Brown's favor. Brown did all that she was required to do under TEDA. Consequently, she should have been reinstated to her teaching position with back pay and benefits. Alternatively, she should have received front pay

and other benefits once it was discovered by Judge Gravely that CCSD did not follow our dismissal procedures in TEDA. R. pp. 336-337.

ARGUMENT III

3. Did Judge Perry Gravely err when he failed to stop the breach of contract and breach of contract accompanied by fraudulent actions trial once he saw the procedural violations committed in Brown's teacher termination process?

Standard of Review: S.C. Code Section 1-23-380 provides that "the court may reverse or modify the decision if substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions are:

- (a.) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b.) in excess of statutory authority of the agency;
- (c.) made upon unlawful procedure
- (d.) affected by error or law;
- (e.) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record, or
- (f.) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

Brown was terminated by the Cherokee County School District Board of Trustees (Board) on October 15, 2015. R. pp. 389-398. Brown never received notice from then- Superintendent Dr. Quincie Moore (Moore), that she was charging Brown with a performance charge. R. pp. 386-388; R. pp. 389 – 398. Brown found out during her jury trial before Judge Gravely in October of 2022. R. p. 355; R. p. 357, lines 22-25 and R. pp. 358-359. Brown contends that her due process rights and procedural due process were violated by CCSD. CCSD did not follow our Teacher Employment and Dismissal Act.

Dr. Carl Carpenter testified that Brown was fired because she was an unsatisfactory teacher and she did not render acceptable service. R. p. 355; R. p. 357, lines 22-25 and R. pp. 358-359. Cherokee

County District Attorneys and Dr. Carl Carpenter were aware of these charges, but failed to tell Brown about them.

Superintendent Moore never gave Brown notice of the performance charge that Dr. Carl Carpenter and District Attorneys claimed at the jury trial held before Judge Gravely.

Pursuant to Section 59-25-440 of TEDA, the Board must afford the adversely affected teacher a hearing based on the notice of dismissal that was recommended by the Superintendent.

Brown was due a meaningful and fair review of the evidence and all the charges prior to the Board making a final determination. *See Brown's prior case Brown vs. James (2010) S.C. Ct. of Appeals, Case No. 4674*

The Superintendent and Board's failure to follow procedure as prescribed in TEDA, should tender Brown's teacher termination null and void. The wording of the TEDA is unambiguous regarding procedures, and the record fails to show that CCSD and its Board complied with its requirements.

It is to be noted that there was nothing for a jury to decide once it was discovered that CCSD and the Board undermined our TEDA. A directed verdict should have been entered in Brown's favor. Brown did all that she was required to do under TEDA. Consequently, she should have been reinstated to her teaching position with back pay and benefits. Alternatively, she should have received front pay and other benefits once it was discovered by Judge Gravely that CCSD did not follow our dismissal procedures in TEDA.

ARGUMENT IV

4. Does South Carolina Employment and Dismissal Act allow a school district to terminate a teacher without giving a teacher the opportunity to defend him or herself against all of the charges before a school board?

Standard of Review: S.C. Code Section 1-23-380 provides that "the court may reverse or modify the decision if substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions are:

- (a.) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b.) in excess of statutory authority of the agency;
- (c.) made upon unlawful procedure
- (d.) affected by error or law;
- (e.) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record, or
- (f.) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

Brown was terminated by the Cherokee County school District Board of Trustees (Board) on October 15, 2015. R. pp. 389-398. Brown never received notice from then- Superintendent Dr. Quincie Moore (Moore), that she was charging Brown with a performance charge. R. pp. 386-388. Brown found out during her jury trial before Judge Gravely in October of 2022. R. p. 355; R. p. 357, lines 22-25 and R. pp. 358-359. Brown contends that her due process rights and procedural due process were violated by CCSD. CCSD did not follow our Teacher Employment and Dismissal Act.

Dr. Carl Carpenter testified that Brown was fired because she was an unsatisfactory teacher and she did not render acceptable service. R. p. 355; R. p. 357, lines 22-25 and R. pp. 358-359. Cherokee County District Attorneys and Dr. Carl Carpenter were aware of these charges, but failed to tell Brown about them.

Superintendent Moore never gave Brown notice of the performance charge that Dr. Carl Carpenter and District Attorneys claimed at the jury trial held before Judge Gravely.

Pursuant to Section 59-25-440 of TEDA, the Board must afford the adversely affected teacher a hearing based on the notice of dismissal that was recommended by the Superintendent.

Brown was due a meaningful and fair review of the evidence and all the charges prior to the Board making a final determination. *See Brown's prior case* Brown vs. James (2010) S.C. Ct. of Appeals, Case No. 4674

The Superintendent and Board's failure to follow procedure as prescribed in TEDA, should tender Brown's teacher termination null and void. The wording of the TEDA is unambiguous regarding procedures, and the record fails to show that CCSD and its Board complied with its requirements.

It is to be noted that there was nothing for a jury to decide once it was discovered that CCSD and the Board undermined our TEDA. A directed verdict should have been entered in Brown's favor. Brown did all that she was required to do under TEDA. Consequently, she should have been reinstated to her teaching position with back pay and benefits. Alternatively, she should have received front pay and other benefits once it was discovered by Judge Gravely that CCSD did not follow our dismissal procedures in TEDA.

ARGUMENT V

5. Did Judge Perry Gravely err when he failed to declare a mistrial when respondent's counsel informed the jury that Brown had been unsuccessful in this school termination case before a circuit court?

Standard of Review: S.C. Code Section 1-23-380 provides that "the court may reverse or modify the decision if substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions are:

- (a.) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b.) in excess of statutory authority of the agency;
- (c.) made upon unlawful procedure
- (d.) affected by error or law;
- (e.) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record, or
- (f.) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

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