RECEIVED

Aug 20 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHEROKEE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge
The Honorable Perry Gravely, Circuit Court Judge

Trial Court Case No. 2017-CP-11-00735
Appellate Case No. 2022-001582

Sharon Brown,

Appellant,

v.

Cherokee County School District One,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT



Andrea E. White (SC Bar ID No. 11891)
J. Alexander Sherard (SC Bar ID No. 103276)
WHITE STORY & HICKS, LLC
P.O. Box 7036 (29202)
3614 Landmark Drive, Suite EF
Columbia, South Carolina 29204
T: (803) 814-0993
F: (803) 814-1183
awhite@sodacitylaw.com

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

A. Preservation

i. The District Incorporates Its Arguments in §§ I And II, *supra*, as Brown Abandoned the Issues on Appeal.

Notably, Brown's argument sections V and VI, Brown are verbatim copies of the other as the basis for her appeal. (App. Br. pp. 14-15). For both argument sections V and VI, Brown cites no authority, reversible error, or prejudice she incurred as the basis for her appeal. *See* District's Argument §§ I & II, *supra*. Therefore, Brown's arguments, as contained in sections V and VI of her argument section, should be deemed abandoned.

ii. Brown Failed to Preserve Her Objection for a Mistrial Before the Lower Court and Cannot Now Raise it on Appeal.

In order to preserve the issue of an alleged improper question at trial, Brown must contemporaneously object to the improper question, immediately move the court to strike the question and/or move for a new trial, and, simultaneously therewith, request the trial judge give a

curative jury instruction. *See McElveen v. Ferre*, 299 S.C. 377, 381, 385 S.E.2d 39, 41 (S.C. App. 1989); *See also McKissick v. J.F. Cleckley & Co.*, 325 S.C. 327, 350-351, 479 S.E.2d 67, 79 (S.C. App. 1996); *See also Madden v. Cox*, 284 S.C. 574, 582, 328 S.E.2d 108, 114 (S.C. App. 1985).

As a preliminary matter, the District contends that Brown failed to preserve this issue for appeal by failing to assert a contemporaneous objection when evidence of Brown's prior case history was introduced. "[O]bjections to the admission of evidence must be made when evidence is presented at trial to preserve error for appeal." *Parr v. Gaines*, 309 S.C. 477, 481, 424 S.E.2d 515, 518 (Ct. App. 1992). "[A] contemporaneous objection is necessary in all trials ... to properly preserve errors for our direct appellate review." *State v. Torrence*, 305 S.C. 45, 71, 406 S.E.2d 315, 329 (1991). "A contemporaneous objection is required to properly preserve an error for appellate review." *Doe v. S.B.M.*, 327 S.C. 352, 356, 488 S.E.2d 878, 881 (Ct. App. 1997). "The failure to make an objection at the time evidence is offered constitutes a waiver of the right to object." *Id.* (emphasis added).

At trial, the District's counsel cross-examined Brown about the TEDA hearing she had before the Board in October 2015. (R. p. 346, lines 13-21). Brown answered affirmatively to being terminated by the board following the hearing and that Brown and her counsel appealed the board's ruling to the circuit court. (R. p. 346, lines 18-25). Brown further continued to answer questions about the procedural history of her TEDA hearing and subsequent appeals—without reservation. (R. p. 347, lines 1-12). As the District's counsel continued, Brown's counsel objected—albeit indirectly. (R. p. 347, lines 14-20). Brown's counsel ultimately objected due to the District's counsel asking questions that had been limited by an earlier motion. (R. pp. 238-259; see R. pp. 338-339). Brown's counsel did request the judge to "instruct the jury," but the Judge declined because the other answers had already come in without objection. (R. p. 348, line 12). The

District's counsel explained that she was simply trying to describe the procedural history of the case. The Judge acknowledged the prejudicial nature, and the District's counsel agreed to withdraw, but the Judge went forward in sustaining Brown's counsel's objection. (R. p. 349, lines 15-16).

Since Brown's objection occurred (R. p. 347, line 14) after the District already asked (R. p. 346, line 13) and Brown answered questions about the TEDA hearing, the objection was not made contemporaneously with the requested testimony. *Doe*, 327 S.C. at 356. Based on the repeated evidence provided by Brown in her Brief (App. Br. pp. 14-15), Brown's objections were not contemporaneous, and her complaint in arguments 5 and 6 are not properly preserved. (App. Br. pp. 14-15)

In *McKissick*, a personal injury action arising from a motor vehicle accident, Cleckley asked the South Carolina Court of Appeals to grant a new trial on the basis that the respondent's counsel improperly asked the investigating officer if a citation was issued, an admittedly improper question in a civil motor vehicle accident trial. *See id.* at 350-351, 479 S.E.2d at 79. Cleckley immediately objected to the question and the trial judge sustained the objection, but the trial judge did not give a curative instruction to the jury. *See id.* "Cleckley did not move for a corrective instruction or a mistrial." Accordingly, Cleckley got what it asked for at trial and cannot now be heard to complain." *See id.* (citing *Kalchthaler v. Workman*, 316 S.C. 499, 450 S.E.2d 621 (S.C. App. 1994), where counsel voiced no complaint about the sufficiency of the trial judge's instructions given in response to his objection, appellate review is not available.)

Here, Brown did not preserve the issue of the District's' alleged improper questioning of Brown since Brown neither moved to strike the remark, moved for a new trial, nor requested the trial court give curative instruction. Brown implicitly accepted the trial court's ruling as

sufficient, when it failed to pursue the issue further.

Since Brown failed to properly preserve this issue for trial, the Court must deny Brown's appeal.

iii. Brown Failed to Preserve Her Issue on Appeal Related to Her Alleged Due Process Violation and The Lack of a New Trial.

Brown failed to preserve her issue of a due process violation and subsequent request for a mistrial to the lower court. In *Grant v. S.C. Coastal Council*, the Court found that even a due process claim raised for the first time on appeal is not preserved for appellate review. 319 S.C. 348, 461 S.E. 2d 388 (1995). Here, in section VI of Brown's argument, she raises an alleged "due process" violation on appeal. (App. Br. p. 15). Despite her failure to point to the reversible error or prejudice, even if Brown's complaint is taken on its face, Brown did not allege such a due process violation at trial. Additionally, she does not indicate in her brief to any objection or testimony regarding the same. Rather, Brown copies the same one-sentence baseless justification provided in her argument section V. Therefore, Brown's due process claim is not preserved for appellate review and should be deemed abandoned.

B. Merits

However, should this Court find the issue preserved for appeal, Brown has failed to show the trial court abused its discretion in denying a mistrial in her arguments V and VI, since the question did not inflame the jury. A motion for a new trial based on improper argument of counsel is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial judge, and his ruling will not be disturbed unless there has been an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law that prejudices the objecting litigant. *See Madden v. Cox*, 284 S.C. 574, 582, 328 S.E.2d 108, 114 (S.C. App. 1985). *See also Merritt v. Grant*, 285 S.C. 150, 155-156, 328 S.E.2d 346, 349-350 (S.C. App. 1985). "Litigants are entitled to fair trials rather than perfect trials." *See McKissick v. J.F. Cleckley & Co.*, 325 S.C.

327, 350-351, 479 S.E.2d 67, 79 (S.C. App. 1996). The Supreme Court of South Carolina has held that the range of witness cross-examination is within the sound discretion of the trial judge, which is not subject to review except in a case of manifest abuse or injustice. *See State v. Maxey*, 218 S.C. 106, 107, 62 S.E.2d 100 (S.C. 1950). The appellate court will consider the record as a whole in determining whether there was actual prejudice. *See id.*

At the time the alleged improper question was asked, Brown's counsel objected, and the trial court sustained the objection, instructing the District's counsel to ask a proper question of the witness without any further objection from Brown or Brown's counsel. Without an objection or motion from Brown asking for further relief, the trial court gave Brown exactly what she requested and, therefore, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying a new trial.

Moreover, Brown has made no showing that counsel's questioning was prejudicial. Even just before Brown's objection, she testified to the underlying board hearing. (R. p. 346, lines 18-25).

Considering the question in the context of the whole record, there was no implication in the question that the question would prejudice Brown. The District was simply highlighting the procedural history of the case. By all accounts, based on the lack of reactions of the District's counsel, the questioning appeared permissive for all purposes. Here, the District's counsel simply asked a question during cross-examination, which was objected to, sustained by the trial court and never raised again. Therefore, the trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying a mistrial and this Court should affirm the ruling below.

Therefore, the Court should affirm the lower court's ruling in sustaining Brown's objection and deny Brown's complaints for a mistrial because her arguments are preserved for appeal and fail on the merits.

IV. THE LOWER COURT DID NOT GRANT THE DISTRICT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT, AND IT DID NOT ERR IN GRANTING THE DISTRICT'S DIRECTED VERDICT ON BROWN'S GROSS NEGLIGENCE CAUSE OF ACTION.

A. Brown's complaint that the lower court granted the District's motion for summary judgment is erroneous.

At trial, the lower court granted the District's motion for a directed verdict—not summary judgment as Brown complains of in her brief. (App. Br. pp. 15-16). It is difficult to discern what Brown's complaint with the lower court actually entails because she provides no evidence of testimony or rulings by the court other than citation to pages 225-228 of the trial transcript and to the lower court's order partially granting summary judgment. In his order, Judge Kelly denied the District's motion for summary judgment to dismiss Brown's gross negligence cause of action. (R. p. 9) . Brown even goes as far to cite the standard of review for summary judgment in her brief. (App. Br. pp. 15-16) .

It is well found in South Carolina case law that a denial of summary judgment is not appealable. *Olson v. Faculty House of Carolina, Inc.*, 354 S.C. 161, 580 S.E.2d 440 (2003); *see also Bank of N.Y. v. Sumter Cnty.*, 387 S.C. 161, 691 S.E.2d 473 (2010) (noting it is well settled that an order denying summary judgment is never reviewable on appeal.). Yet, here, in her issue on appeal section VII and in her argument section VII, Brown seeks this Court's intervention regarding a motion in which the non-moving party—Brown—was on the end of the ruling which is in her favor. It is illogical that Brown would seek to appeal Judge Kelly's ruling denying the District's denial of summary judgment, yet Brown seeks for this court to overturn it on appeal.

Therefore, the District seeks this court to affirm the lower court's denial of its summary judgment motion regarding the gross negligence claim, based on the undisputed case law of this state.

B. Preservation

In addition to the arguments I and II *supra*, Brown abandons any issue raised on appeal by not indicating prejudice or reversible errors at trial. (App. Br. pp. 15-16). Even if taken as true, Brown cites to no authority related to the trial court's—directed verdict (not summary judgment) disposal of the gross negligence cause of action. Brown does not demonstrate how the ruling on summary judgment and directed verdict should interplay. Even if erring in Brown's favor in reviewing her brief, which the court is not obligated to err, Brown appeals disposal of the gross negligence cause of action based on summary judgment when it was actually disposed of based from the District's directed verdict motion—not summary judgment.

Under South Carolina Appellate Court Rules, “A brief shall contain references to the transcript, pleadings, orders, exhibits, or other materials which may be properly included in the Record on Appeal to support the salient facts alleged. Reference shall also be made to where relevant objections and rulings occurred in the transcript.” Rule 208(b)(4), SCACR. For example, in *State ex rel. Wilson v. Ortho-McNeil-Janssen Pharmaceuticals, Inc.*, the appellant failed to identify any specific trial court rulings claimed to constitute error. 414 S.C. 33, 73, 777 S.E.2d 176, 197 (2015) (citing Rule 208(b)(4), SCACR.). As a result, the appellant's argument did not sufficiently identify with particularity the alleged error, and the Supreme Court found the appellant had abandoned its claim on appeal. *Id*

Here Brown fails to cite to the District's motion for a directed verdict and instead references to its motion for summary judgment—which was denied by Judge Kelly on September 10, 2021. (R. p. 9). Therefore, because Brown's issue and argument VII on appeal seeks this Court to intervene on the District's non-existent ruling on summary judgment and does not move on appeal regarding a directed verdict, Brown's issue VII is not preserved for review.

C. Merits

i. Standard of Review

“In ruling on motions for directed verdict and JNOV, the trial court is required to view the evidence and the inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motions and to deny the motions where either the evidence yields more than one inference, or its inference is in doubt.” *Strange v. South Carolina Dep't of Highways & Pub. Transp.*, 314 S.C. 427, 429-30, 445 S.E.2d 439, 440 (1994). However, “[a] directed verdict should be granted where the evidence raises no issue for the jury as to the defendant's liability.” *Guffey v. Columbia/Colleton Reg'l Hosp., Inc.*, 364 S.C. 158, 163, 612 S.E.2d 695, 697 (2005). The Appellate Court applies the same standard. *O'Leary-Payne v. R.R. Hilton Head, II*, 371 S.C. 340, 347-48, 638 S.E.2d 96, 100 (Ct. App. 2006).

ii. The Trial court did not err in granting the District's Motion for a Directed Verdict under the S.C. Tort Claims Act (S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(25)) for Brown's Gross Negligence Cause of Action.

While incorrectly stating as such in her brief, Brown cites to the trial transcript in regard to the lower court's grant of a *directed verdict* to the District in regard to Brown's cause of action for gross negligence. (App. Br. pp. 15-16). Assuming *arguendo* that the Court finds that Brown properly preserved the issue on appeal as to the grant of a directed verdict--as opposed to her issue as stated--denying the District's motion for summary judgment, the Court should affirm the lower court's grant of a directed verdict in favor of the District disposing of Brown's cause of action for gross negligence based on the District's immunity under the S.C. Tort Claims Act (“TCA”) and the inapplicability of the waiver of immunity under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(25).

In Brown's second amended complaint, Brown alleges the District was grossly negligent in “supervising Dr. Quincie Moore as Superintendent.” (Supp. App. p. 417). Brown also alleges

the District was “grossly negligent for the termination of [Brown’s] teaching contract with the District by the School Board.” (Id.). At trial, the lower court granted the District’s motion for a directed verdict as to Brown’s cause of action for gross negligence based on the District’s immunity under the TCA. (R. p. 370, line 22—p. 371, line 10).

The South Carolina Tort Claims Act waives the common law sovereign immunity of governmental entities subject to certain exceptions as provided in S.C. Code Ann. 15-78-60. As applies in this case, § 15-78-60(25) provides,

“The governmental entity is not liable for loss resulting from: (25) responsibility or duty including but not limited to supervision, protection, control, confinement, or custody of any student, patient, prisoner, inmate, or client of any governmental entity, except when the responsibility or duty is exercised in a grossly negligent manner.”

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